
The Spanish Polemic on Colonisation   Part 4:

The Controversy at Valladolid, 1550-1551    

What the dispute was about

The dispute that took place in Valladolid in 1550 was about what was right and lawful conduct for the Spanish in America. The question was whether the sovereignty of the king of Spain should be established throughout America by armed conquest (as it had been up to then), and whether the local inhabitants should be compelled to change their way of life and forced to work for the Spaniards; or alternatively, whether exclusively peaceful means should be used, with the primary means being the peaceful preaching of Christianity.   

The question was not whether the Spanish king had any sovereign rights at all in America, i.e. whether Spain should simply give the Indies back to the Indians. In a pamphlet published a year after the Valladolid debate, Bartolomé de las Casas said: 

“The kings of Castile and Leon have most just title to sovereign and universal empire in the entire sphere of what we call the Oceanic Indies, and are justly sovereign and supreme princes and universal lords and emperors over the kings and natural lords of those lands, by virtue of the authority, concession and donation – not pure and simple, but modal, i.e. for a purpose – which the Holy Apostolic See made to them formally. And this, and no other, is the substantial juridical foundation on which all of their title rests.”  (1)
Admittedly, he had also said the following, in a handbook written a few years previously for the use of confessors in America:

“The entry of the Spaniards into each of the provinces of the Indies, and the subjection and servitude which they have imposed on those peoples, … has been contrary to all natural law and the law of nations, as well as to all divine law… And since all they have done has been null and juridically invalid, they have not been justly entitled to a single penny in tribute and consequently they are obliged to make full restitution.” (2)    

But Las Casas saw no contradiction in these two statements. As he explained again and again, the problem was that Spanish authority had been established by armed adventurers who were motivated by the hope of riches. What those people did undermined the king’s title, which in itself was valid. Las Casas was in agreement with his opponent at Valladolid, Juan Ginés de Sepúlveda, on this much: the kings of Spain had a real and meaningful imperial title to America. The question was what this title practically amounted to and implied.   

There were some Spaniards who did say that the Indies should be given back to the Indians, either immediately or in the very near future. Those people were all or nearly all members of the Dominican Order, to which Las Casas himself belonged. The Dominicans had a long tradition, going back three centuries to Thomas Aquinas, of thinking about political rights. They took seriously the implications of the natural law, which was the unwritten law that held good for all human beings. Under natural law, pagans living in countries that had never been Christian had the right to their own forms of political authority. The Dominicans therefore found it hard to see what right the Spaniards could have had to overthrow local princes in America and impose their own power. “In the Gospel we are given the right to preach throughout the whole world, and consequently to defend ourselves against those who try to stop us doing so,” Domingo de Soto said. “So if we do not have security for that, we can defend ourselves at their expense. But I do not see where we get the right to take their possessions as well, or to subject those peoples to our empire.”   

As I explained in the previous article in this series, the outstanding legal brain in contemporary Spain did come up with a kind of solution. Francisco de Vitoria, a Dominican and senior professor at the University of Salamanca, produced what he called “possible” justifications of the conquest, although only by using blatant sophistry. Vitoria’s justifications included the main argument championed by Sepúlveda (barbarians must be civilised) and others which not only became classic justifications of imperialism but are used to this day to justify armed intervention by states in distant territories (inhumane practices must be stopped).    

But Vitoria was unable to swallow the idea that the Pope could donate America to Spain. By destroying this argument he threw away what Charles V thought was the best trump in his hand. Alarmed, the king demanded that all Dominicans wanting to lecture about the Indies should submit their materials for royal censorship. However, it was not easy for any outsider, even a king, to discipline the Dominicans. They continued to discuss the Indies when they chose, and most of them kept in harmony with Vitoria, while a few went so far as to raise the prospect of Spanish withdrawal from the Indies in the future. (4) But this was theological speculation, at a distance from affairs of state.     

Bartolomé de las Casas, on the other hand, had a great deal of influence on state policy. His influence would not be easy to explain without taking into account his earnest sense of the king’s rights, the king’s duties, the king’s interests and the king’s opportunities. Las Casas was not above saying: by taking this course of action the king will increase his income! The change in Spanish conduct which he demanded required a consistently active policy by the Spanish king and its enforcement by highly motivated officials in America, watched over by visionary monks. (To that extent Daniel Castro, whose book on Las Casas is entitled Another Face of Empire, can make a case.) Las Casas went to Valladolid as someone whose belief in the Spanish king’s sovereign right and Christian mission had been expressed countless times and was not doubted by Charles V.   

There are writers who say that at an earlier time Charles V himself had seriously considered giving the Indies back to the Indians. This was because Vitoria’s dismissal of the Papal donation disturbed his conscience. The matter is disputed and I’m not in a position to take sides, but some contemporaries believed this to be true. Writing from Cuzco in 1572, introducing his History of the Incas dedicated to King Philip II, Pedro Sarmiento de Gamboa said:

“[The Pope donated the Indies to the kings of Spain], but [the preachers] began to make a difficulty about the right and title which the kings of Castile had over these lands. As your invincible father was very jealous in matters touching his conscience, he ordered this point to be examined, as closely as possible, by very learned doctors… They gave it as their opinion that the Incas, who ruled in these kingdoms of Peru, were and are the natural lords of that land… Owing to this, the Emperor Don Carlos of glorious memory was on the point of abandoning them.” (5)
Whether or not there is any truth in what Sarmiento said, certainly Charles V’s conscience was bothering him in 1550. Las Casas, back in Spain for the past three years, had given him disturbing information about what was going on abroad. But the options now being considered did not include abandoning the Indies. The purpose of the event at Valladolid was officially formulated as follows:

“to enquire into and establish the manner and the laws in which our Holy Catholic Faith can be preached and promulgated in the New World, (and to examine) in what form these peoples may remain subject to His Majesty the Emperor without injury to his royal conscience, according to the bull of Pope Alexander”. (6)   

In the meantime, an order was given that all conquests were to cease.    

What happened in Valladolid was not a debate in our present-day sense. Las Casas and Sepúlveda did not meet face to face: they separately addressed a so-called junta or council of experts. However, each was afterwards given a summary of his opponent’s address and was allowed to make a further statement replying to it. The junta was a fifteen-man body. There were seven members of the Council of the Indies, two members of the Royal Council, one ex-inquisitor who was also a former special envoy to Mexico, three Dominican theologians, one Franciscan theologian, and one bishop. (7) After all statements by the opposing parties had been heard, the junta itself was supposed to issue a statement for the guidance of the king. (8)   

The event took place where it did because Valladolid was the grandest city in Spain and the administrative capital. (Seville had a somewhat larger population, with 45,000 inhabitants as against 38,000, but it was far less central. Madrid, with about 4,000 people, was not much more than a big village.) 

Las Casas on the background to the controversy 

The only surviving record of the controversy is contained in a pamphlet which Las Casas published in 1552. (9) This begins with an introduction written by Las Casas himself. He explains how Sepúlveda, persuaded by “some of the most criminal” conquistadors, had written a dialogue in elegant Latin with two principal conclusions. Firstly, the wars which the Spanish had waged against the Indians were just; secondly, the Indians were obliged to subject themselves to the Spaniards, as people of lesser understanding to those who were more prudent, and war might be waged on them if they did not. Sepúlveda submitted this book to be cleared for publication by the Council of the Indies, but the Council understood how much damage it would do and refused. Next Sepúlveda appealed to the Royal Council; Las Casas happened to be there, and he campaigned against publication. The Royal Council submitted the work to the universities of Salamanca and Alcalá, both of which decided that “its doctrine was not sound” and it should not be printed.    

Sepúlveda then cunningly managed to have a variant version published in Rome, under the guise of a letter he had sent to a certain Spanish bishop justifying his arguments. The emperor, however, issued a decree that this publication was to be confiscated in Spain. But Sepúlveda went on to produce a summary of his book in Spanish, designed to circulate all through the kingdom in manuscript and to be read by people who did not know Latin, the sort of people who were interested in becoming rich by the sweat of others. And so Las Casas had decided to write a book of his own in Spanish, demolishing Sepúlveda’s arguments and pointing out the danger of his ideas.   

Responding to this dispute, the Emperor decided to call a junta of theologians, jurists, and members of the Council of the Indies, to hear the two protagonists. The first session opened in August 1550.    

The opening statements by the two parties are given in summaries by the theologian Domingo de Soto, which he produced for the use of his fellow members of the junta. Sepúlveda first made a three-hour statement. Las Casas then spoke for five days, reading an entire book to the junta. It is impossible for me to keep strict balance between them, Soto says: anyone who needs more detail may read Sepúlveda’s book!   

Las Casas and Sepúlveda presented their arguments in the language of Christianity, giving justifications from theology and the Bible. But much of what they were saying reappeared in later, more secular forms of political language. And arguably the key issue between them is still a key issue in the 21st century and may be no nearer to being resolved.

Opening statements by the protagonists

Sepúlveda gave four reasons why the Indians could be subjected by armed force. 

“1. The gravity of the crimes committed by that people, especially their idolatry and other sins which they commit against nature. 

2. Because of the crudeness of their minds they are naturally servile and barbarous people, and accordingly they are obliged to serve those whose intelligence is more cultivated, such as the Spaniards. 

3. The cause of the Faith, because the easiest and most expedient way of ensuring that it can be preached persuasively is to subject them by force. 

4. The injury that some of them do to others, killing people as sacrifices and in certain cases eating them.”   

Sepúlveda supported his arguments with various examples from the Bible, especially Deuteronomy, where the Jews are told to destroy the heathens’ idols. Using a gloss, from a particular statement in Deuteronomy “he inferred that simply because some people have a religion different to ours, we may make war on them”. In connection with crimes against nature, he mentioned the punishment God inflicted on Sodom and Gomorrah “as an example of what it is legitimate to do in the Indies”. (Soto, who is summarising, cannot resist putting in touches of irony.)   

Las Casas knew Sepúlveda’s four basic arguments and he had counter-arguments ready on all these points. He maintained that the biblical examples were not relevant. The principal reason why the Jews had waged crushing wars against certain gentile peoples was to gain the land promised to Abraham, not to punish idolatry. If God had wanted to punish the gentiles purely for idolatry, then it would not have been enough to crush the few peoples mentioned in the Bible: almost the whole world would have had to be punished, because it was full of idolatry everywhere!    

At any rate, Christianity was not about punishing pagans. Apostates or heretics could be punished, but pagans who were doing no harm to Christians should be left alone. It was standard practice that conversion should be done peacefully. Take the case of the island of Britain. Even in the time of Pope Gregory there were powerful Roman emperors whose military force the Pope might have called upon. So then, when he wanted to convert Britain, why he did not send an armed expedition, rather than Augustine and his forty monks?   

Regarding idols, the other Saint Augustine had said: “A great many pagans have these abominable things on their premises; are we to go in and smash them? No, let us try to smash the idols in their hearts. Once they become Christian, they will themselves encourage us to do this good work, or they will anticipate us.” Las Casas denied that the Christians had any jurisdiction to interfere with idol-worship prior to the Indians’ conversion. “Men cannot live without some God. We cannot prohibit them from honouring their false gods without teaching them the falsehood of those gods and the truth of our true God.”    

But Las Casas was not an absolute pacifist. To clarify the issue he presented six cases where Christians could legitimately make war upon pagans. 1. If they have violently occupied lands that previously belonged to Christians. 2. “If they contaminate our Faith, sacraments, temples or images with the grave sins of idolatry.” (He instanced the emperor Constantine’s decree that pagans could not have idols where Christians might be scandalised.) 3. If they blaspheme the name of Christ, the Church, or Christian saints or scholars. 4. If they knowingly impede preaching “but not because they kill preachers when they think those preachers are coming to do them evil and deceive them, as they presume when they see them coming in the company of armed men”. 5. If they make war upon Christians, like the Turks. 6. If there are innocent victims to be rescued. Probably because of the power of Vitoria’s influence, Las Casas accepted this as valid grounds for war, but only in principle. In practice, he said, it must be governed by the principle of the lesser evil. If the evils caused by war would be greater than the evils prevented, then war should not be waged.   

Turning to the question of whether war created the best conditions for preaching, Las Casas said that for the acceptance of Christianity, which involved the understanding, it was necessary to have an open, trusting spirit. But the spirit which war engendered was quite the opposite. It was more proper to Mahommedans to think of promoting their religion by force.    

Even non-Christians living in the Christian lands were not subjected to compulsion to conform. Still more so, the people in non-Christian lands to whom Christianity was offered had the right to refuse. This might even override the right of preaching. “If the entire republic by common consent of all individuals did not wish to hear us, but preferred its own rites in lands where there had never been Christians, in such a case we could not make war on them.” (And at this point Soto, who had promised to remain neutral, broke in on Las Casas to accuse him on muddying issues. “It’s one thing whether we can force them to let us preach, which is the opinion of many doctors; it’s another thing whether we can compel them to come to our sermons, which does not have the same plausibility.”)      

Saving the innocent victims of human sacrifice and cannibalism was just in principle. However, in practice it could not be done by war without causing much greater evils. To see it in true perspective, one had to remember that this custom was extremely widespread in antiquity, and according to Plutarch, when the Romans came across it they did not punish those involved but merely forbade them to do this in future.   

But there is a deeper reason why Christians must proceed gently in this matter.

“Whatever somebody may regard as God, by the light of nature he knows it is something most excellent which all must worship, and to which they must sacrifice the best things men possess, to give thanks for the benefits they receive and to atone for the wrongs they have done. And since the most excellent thing is human life itself, in their ignorance they have a certain excuse for offering the lives of men… The pagans think that innocent children are the most pleasing to God and the most useful in the life beyond. There is even a confirmation of this in Sacred Scripture, where God ordered Abraham to sacrifice the son whom he loved so much, to put his faith and his love to the test. In this he did not do Abraham any wrong, because he is Lord of the universe and even of man’s life and death, even though he did not allow the sacrifice because of his goodness… [In pagan lands] the most beloved wives used to be buried with their husbands. And it seems that some members of our own religion would do the same if the Faith did not correct the blindness of love…”       

The wish to do these things must be removed from pagan hearts by persuasion, not by war.    

Finally, Las Casas replied to Sepúlveda’s claim that the Indians were barbarians, by nature slaves or serfs, and thus obliged to be subjects of the Spaniards. What did the term “barbarians” actually mean? Las Casas distinguished three different senses of the word.  1. People who are in some way strange in their opinions or customs, though they do not lack civilisation or self-governing abilities. 2. People who are without literate culture, like the British before their conversion. But Aristotle did not consider such people servile by nature: he specifically said that some barbarians had true kingdoms, kings, lords and government. 3. Barbarians of the third kind are people who live wild, without any kind of law or ritual. It was these Aristotle thought were naturally servile. But the Indians were “social and civil, with great towns and houses and laws and arts and lords and government”. They were too refined for this notion of barbarism to apply to them.   

Las Casas therefore denied that war could legitimately be made on the Indians for any of the reasons his opponent had given. War was tyrannical and prejudicial to the preaching of the faith. The spirit of Pope Alexander’s bull was not to establish local dominion or to make slaves of Indians or confiscate their properties. What it implied was “supreme jurisdiction with some reasonable tribute for the protection of the Faith and the teaching of good customs and good government.”

Sepúlveda’s Objections: barbarism of the Indians    

Six months later there was a second session, and this time we have the participants’ actual words. Once again Sepúlveda was the first speaker. He had been given Soto’s summary of the five-day address by Las Casas. Now he read twelve objections, striking hard at the weaknesses he saw in his opponent’s position.   

The first seven of Sepúlveda’s objections are concerned with interpretation of the Bible and the writings of Church Fathers. In his eighth objection he takes up the argument “that these Indians are not barbarians such as may be forced to obey those who are prudent and humane”, on the grounds that they have cities and public order. He replies, citing Aquinas, that “by barbarians are meant those who do not live in conformity with natural reason and have evil customs publicly approved among them”. Almost everyone who has been in America says that the natives there are men of small capacity and depraved customs; he cites particularly the Historia General of the “grave and diligent” imperial chronicler Oviedo.   

Ninthly, 

“as for war being an impediment rather than an aid to the conversion of the Indians, because the injury they receive will make them hate the Christians… I say that the patient with frenzy also hates the doctor who cures him and the badly brought-up boy hates the master who chastises him, but that does not stop the treatment being beneficial for both… And the war and the soldiers are not there to convert or to preach, but to subjugate the barbarians and make smooth and safe the path for preaching. And that must be done by friars and clerics of good life, doctrine and example. The preaching must be done with all gentleness, as the apostles did it.”   

Tenthly,

“as regards his statement that the infidels cannot be forced to hear preaching: it is new and false doctrine… Because the Pope has the power and indeed the mandate to preach the Gospel personally and through others in the whole world, and this cannot be done if the preachers are not heard: therefore by Christ’s commission he has the power to force them to hear.”   

Eleventhly,

“he said that in order to rescue from death the innocents they sacrificed there could be a just war, but it should not be waged because of two evils the lesser must be chosen, and the evils resulting from this war are greater than the deaths of the innocents. His lordship has done his calculation very badly, because all who have come from Mexico and took the trouble to learn the facts say that every year more than 20,000 persons were sacrificed there. Multiplying that number by the thirty years during which this sacrifice has been prohibited, makes 600,000; and in the conquest of the land I do not believe that more people died than they used to sacrifice in a year… 

Trying to find reasons to excuse the sacrifice of human victims is so far contrary to Christianity that even some of the pagans themselves who were not barbarous and inhumane regarded it as abominable (citing Pliny)… Ignorance of the natural law is no excuse, as theologians and canonists agree. When he says that holding human sacrifice to be a good thing is a probable opinion for the Indians, because the wisest men among them hold it, and for this he cites Aristotle, I reply that when speaking of “wise and prudent” the philosopher does not have in mind the less barbarous barbarians: rather, he means persons living among civilised and humane peoples, as he says in the first chapter of the Politics when speaking of barbarians…”      

Twelfthly,

“I say that the intention of Pope Alexander, as is clearly seen from his bull, was that the barbarians should first be subjected to the kings of Castile, and afterwards the Gospel should be preached to them. Because that is how it was done from the beginning, by instruction of the Catholic monarchs, in conformity with the intention of the Pope, who lived nine or ten years after granting the bull. And he knew very well the mode of proceeding in the conquest, as did all his successor Popes who have approved it, not merely not condemning it but granting bulls and faculties and indulgences… 

The bull of Pope Paul III (1537, condemning the degrading treatment of Indians. J.M.) was granted only against soldiers who without the king’s authority made slaves of these barbarians and committed many abuses, treating them like beasts; and therefore he said that they had to be treated as men and neighbours, since they are rational animals. But to say that they do not have to be subjected to the king except after they become Christians goes beyond all reason…
And I say further that when he concedes that after becoming Christians they and their first princes must be subject to the kings of Castile, he contradicts all he has previously said to avoid the acceptance of war. Because if the kings of Castile have the right, as he said, to subject them in that manner after they become Christians, then certainly if they do not wish to give obedience the kings can justly force them, and war is necessary for that. Therefore they can justly wage war for a lesser reason than I have proposed. And with this concession he undoes everything he has previously said. 

Accordingly, if one considers this and everything else that the lord bishop has written, it is designed to prove that all of the conquests carried out up to now, even if they have kept to the instructions, have been unjust and tyrannical… And to persuade the Emperor not to make any further conquest henceforward, which would mean that his Majesty would not do his duty and would not fulfil the mandate of Christ, committed to him by the Church, for the propagation of the Faith, and these miserable peoples who remain unconquered would not be converted. Because if they are not to be subjected, no men of war would go there, giving security to the preachers, at their own expense, as they have done up to now; nor would they go at the expense of the king, because he has to finance other things more necessary for his realm and his income is not sufficient even for that. And even if he wanted to incur this expense and send soldiers, he would find nobody to go so far distant, even if he gave thirty ducats a month, whereas now there are men who expose themselves to all the dangers at their own expense, in hopes of profiting from the mines of gold and silver and the help of the Indians, once they have been subjected.

And if someone were to say that the Indians ought to bear the entire cost, since the work is being done for their benefit, it is clear that they will not do that except under compulsion and after defeat in war, which brings us back to the starting point. And preachers would not go either, and if they did go the Indians would not accept them: they would treat them in the same way as, last year in Florida, they treated preachers sent without military escort, in accordance with this opinion held by the bishop and at his instigation. And even if they refrained from killing them, the preaching would not have as much effect in a hundred years as it has in fifteen days once the Indians are subjected, when the preachers have freedom to preach publicly and anyone who wishes can convert, without fear of priest or cacique. The situation is quite the opposite among those who are not subjected. 

The truth is, the lord bishop has devoted so much energy and diligence to closing all the doors of justification and undoing all the titles on which the Emperor’s justice is based, that he has given reason for citizens to think and to say (especially if they have read his Handbook for Confessors) that his whole purpose is to make all the world believe that the kings of Castile hold the empire of the Indies against all justice and tyrannically. But he gives them that title frivolously, so as to fulfil after a fashion his duty to His Majesty, who more than anyone else has the power to do him good or harm.

I conclude, then, by saying that it is legitimate to subjugate these barbarians from the beginning, to rid them of their idolatry and evil rites, and so that they cannot impede preaching and may convert more easily and freely, and so that afterwards they do not relapse and fall into heresies, and so that through the company of Christian Spaniards they may be confirmed in the faith and lose their barbaric rites and customs.”   

Sepúlveda ended by recommending his published summary, “praised by many very learned men at the court of Rome”, and his principal book (Democrates the Second) “of which many translations are in circulation all over Spain”.

Las Casas on the humanity of the Indians

Las Casas replied harshly. Much is made of his harsh tone by Jean Dumont and others. But first of all, Sepúlveda had made very damaging allegations, especially in his final objection, and secondly, Las Casas saw him as an apologist for what is now called genocide (“destruction of peoples” and other terms that he used can be taken as perfect synonyms). Sepúlveda, with his humanist training in literary expression, was skilled with the stiletto. Las Casas reached for the hammer.   

It has not been my practice hitherto, he said in the prologue to his reply, to name “[those people who have argued] that the wars… which have caused such damage and destruction, with the loss of great kingdoms, immense populations, and infinite numbers of souls, are just… Now it appears to me that the very reverend and distinguished Doctor Sepúlveda has shown and declared himself as their principal defender and partisan… He has chosen to reveal himself and does not fear to be regarded as the fautor of such detestable impieties, which result in such great infamy for the Faith…” The word fautor was the technical term for someone who favoured or promoted heresy. Used by a Spanish Dominican, it had an ominous ring.   

Las Casas had received a copy of Sepúlveda’s objections. He replied to them systematically, dealing with biblical and theological points in the scholastic way, with a parade of authorities. On the eighth objection, he said that Sepúlveda travestied the doctrine of Aristotle. There were many nations, currently very civilised and mentally accomplished, which had once been considered barbarous and wild – Spain, for example. Roman influence was credited with civilising the barbarous Spaniards, but supposing the Romans “had given each tyrant his part, as has been done in the Indies, and our ancestors had perished body and soul in extracting the gold and silver that Spain then possessed”, what would the results have been for Spain? 

“The Indians have good understanding and acute minds, they show capacity and willingness to learn in all moral sciences and speculative doctrines, and for the most part they are well-ordered and reasonable in their public arrangements, having many extremely just laws, and wherever they have been taught by monks and persons of good conduct they have daily benefited from the Christian faith and religion, promoting good customs and correcting vices, as much any other nation in the world… I leave out of account their admirable progress in the mechanical arts and in liberal arts such as reading and writing, singing, playing musical instruments, grammar and logic and all the rest…”   

Sepúlveda had omitted to inform himself about all this. And the worst thing was that he presented Oviedo, author of a false and detestable so-called General History, as an unimpeachable authority. Oviedo was “one of the tyrants who have robbed and destroyed the Indies, as he himself confesses in the Prologue to the first part, column 6, chapter 8, and consequently a capital enemy of the Indians”.    

The ninth objection, according to Las Casas, was “a plain imposture”. How could there be any comparison between medical treatment or educational discipline and the wars waged on the Indians? “After they are dead, plundered, afflicted, terrorised, and scandalised, reduced to slaves, their wives and daughters violated and dishonoured, and driven to hate the faith and the Christian religion, all of this the work of the soldiers, what can this “smoothing the way” be that the doctor has discovered, if not smoothing the way for robbery and enslavement and violent usurpation and confirming it when it is done?” And surely the doctor must have qualms about dragging in the Apostles? “Did the Apostles send before them, as the doctor wishes to do, robbers, brigands, killers…?”      

Regarding the tenth objection,

“that the Pope has power and the mandate to preach the Gospel personally and through others all over the world: I acknowledge that, but the consequence which the reverend doctor infers, that the infidels can be forced to hear preaching, is not very clear, and to make it evident one would have to examine the truth much more discriminately than the doctor has done. Because we see that when Christ sent his Apostles to preach he did not order them to exert force on those who did not wish to hear them, rather they were to depart peaceably from that place or town and shake the dust of it off their feet (Matthew 10)… So it seems that what I am saying is not a new and false doctrine, as the doctor says calumniously, but the Catholic and Christian doctrine. Because it is one thing that the Church possesses the power to suppress obstacles that have been maliciously put in the way of preaching, and another very different thing to force the infidels to hear preaching against their will. The first may be done legitimately, the second may not.”

On the eleventh objection,

“it is not true to say that in Mexico 20,000 persons were sacrificed every year, nor 100, nor 50. Had there been so many sacrifices, we would not have found there such countless numbers of people. This is only the voice of tyrants, to excuse and justify their tyrannical violence and to oppress and despoil the Indians… And that is the objective of those who want to support them, such as the doctor and his followers… It would be truer to say that every year since they have been in the Indies and after their invasion of every province, the Spaniards have made more sacrifices to their dearly loved and adored goddess, Greed, than the Indians in all the Indies have made to their gods in a hundred years. The skies, the land, the elements and the stones bear witness to this and cry it out, and the tyrants themselves who have perpetrated it do not deny it. See how all of these kingdoms had abundant populations when we entered them; and see the state we have them in now – they are ruined and ravaged! Even if we do not fear God, we should feel great shame and our guilt should confound us, trying to mask or excuse such odious and abominable doings, when we have before our eyes a land longer and more extensive than all of Europe with part of Asia included, which we have depopulated, laid waste and devastated in the space of forty five or forty eight years so as to acquire goods and riches, robbing and usurping with extreme cruelty, injustice and tyranny, though we found it heavily populated by people of great humanity. 

If the very reverend doctor Sepúlveda takes this into account with love and charity, he will know that I am counting better than him. And it will be well if he can explain how, if he mourns those who died without baptism through being sacrificed by those Indians, whether they were ten or a hundred, or whether they were a thousand or ten thousand (which is false), how it is that his soul is not in pain and his entrails wrenching and his heart breaking for the twenty million souls who have perished during this time, without faith and without the sacraments, who would otherwise have been saved, since God had created them so well disposed to receive the Faith, and who have been condemned because the Spaniards deprived them of time and space for their conversion, dismembering them against all reason and justice?

The doctor says I want to find reasons to excuse human sacrifices… What I say is not to excuse them before God, because I do not know how God will judge them, since his judgment is impenetrable; but I want to prove with evident reasons that the Indians are victims of a plausible ignorance and error which prevents them from believing, when this is first declared by Christians or even many times afterwards, that human sacrifice is contrary to natural law or a sin, and consequently they cannot justly be punished for this by men or by human judgment. And I say further that they will never be obliged to believe any preacher of our Holy Faith who goes accompanied by tyrant men of war, robbers and killers, as the doctor desires they should be… And I say that it is not easy to prove to them that to sacrifice human victims to the true God (or the false god if he is esteemed as true) is against the natural law.”   

A long discussion of this point follows, culminating in the tricky case of Jephta, judge of Israel. Jephta promised to sacrifice to God the first living being he met on his path. The first living being he met was his daughter, and he kept his word. Unlike in the case of Abraham, God did not stop him. There is no hint in the Bible that God was displeased by the sacrifice. So then, Las Casas says, the pagan notion that God is pleased by human sacrifice is not so outlandish.   

In the twelfth and final objection,

“Doctor Sepúlveda accumulates enormous errors and scandalous propositions against all Gospel truth and against all Christianity, wrapped up in and painted with false zeal for the king’s service, so much so that no Christian should be surprised if we choose not just to confront him with lengthy writings but to attack him as a capital enemy of the Christian Republic, a fautor of cruel tyrants, an extirpator of the human lineage, and a sower of most deadly blindness in these kingdoms of Spain.”   

Las Casas began by citing sections from Pope Alexander’s bull, where the Pope mentions that many peoples have been discovered living peacefully (pacifice) on certain islands and mainlands; that the king of Spain is asked to induct (inducere) these peoples into Christianity; and that God-fearing, learned men should be sent to instruct the inhabitants in the Catholic faith and imbue them with good customs. Where does the Pope say, Las Casas asked, that the king should make war on them? And to claim that later Popes, by granting bulls and indulgences to establish cathedrals, bishoprics, monasteries, and other spiritual things, had justified war and conquest – that was outrageous. That was to confound Christ with Belial!   

Not content with falsifying the intention of the Pope, Sepúlveda went on to falsify the practice of the Spanish monarchs. Did not Ferdinand and Isabella literally say, in their first instructions to Columbus, that “the said Indians are to be treated very well and lovingly, without doing them any wrong,” and that anyone who wronged them was to be punished? And did Isabella not repeat in her Testament that the Indians were to receive no injury in their persons or goods, but should be well and justly treated? Many other decrees and instructions, royal letters, provisions and laws had been issued by the currently-reigning king and his predecessors to prevent and avoid wars, and ordering that the Indians should not be mistreated: they should rather be drawn to the Christian religion by peaceful and loving means.
“Doctor Sepúlveda is deceived and blind, because he ought to know that all the injuries and robberies, slaughters and depopulations in more than three hundred leagues of land that was full of people and delightful, have at all times been perpetrated by the tyrants in those Indies, without the authority of the kings of Castile. Rather, everything has been done against their express mandates and prohibitions, as I have demonstrated in my thirty propositions which I formulated in defence of my Handbook for Confessors, and in other tractates of mine.”      

Las Casas then dealt with the difficult matter of Papal temporal power and the implications of the Papal grant.    

“The Holy See was entitled… to concede and grant the supreme and universal principality and lordship of this geographical sphere, without depriving the natural lords or the peoples of what is theirs, to a Catholic king who would defend and maintain them.” But until such time as the pagans accept the Faith, the only right the Christians have in their territory is the right to preach. When they do accept Christianity, however, the right of the Christian Church and Christian secular power becomes more extensive. “Principally the difference… is that the Church cannot force them to receive the Faith, but it can force them to keep it.”   

Prior to their baptism, the pagans are not subjects of the Church. Hence the Church “can neither provide them with a lord nor remove their lord”, except in special and individual circumstances, such as when a lord, acting without his community’s consent, impedes preaching. But even after they have become Christian, in the unlikely event that they refuse to accept the king of Spain as their supreme lord, it does not follow that war can legitimately be made on them, provided they still maintain the Faith and observe justice. The objective is the spiritual and temporal good of those peoples, which will not be achieved by war. They must therefore be won over by peaceful persuasion and constructive work, and that will be easy: “they will come with open arms, and singing and dancing, to give their allegiance”.   

Las Casas repeated that “all of the conquests and wars that have been waged against the Indians, from the time when the Indies were discovered to the present day, have been most unjust, tyrannical, infernal”. The cruel thieves and tyrants who had profited from them were bound as far as possible to make restitution. “And I add that the doctor and any other person who tries to excuse or justify them are in mortal sin and bound to restitution likewise.” Taking up Sepúlveda’s point that the conquistadors had gone at their own expense, he said that this was precisely the problem. “One of the principal and most effective reasons why so many great kingdoms in the Indies have been destroyed, and which has given rise to disobedience and rebellion against the king of Spain, is that the tyrants who offered to raise armies and make conquests have been allowed to go there at their own expense. Although they met their expenses not with money from the properties they had here in Spain, but with what they plundered over there.”   

Other points referred to include Sepúlveda’s book published in Rome (if the Pope had known how much falsehood and “scandalous, death-dealing doctrine” it contained, it would never have been published) and the preacher killed by Indians in Florida. (It was his misfortune that, disembarking at a place not intended, he was seen in the company of sailors who had committed cruelties against the Indians of the land. These Indians had “a most just cause for war against the Spaniards, and even against all Christians”, and they were unable to distinguish the friars from the others. It was God’s providence that some of his servants should die for the Gospel; Sepúlveda, who was trying to exploit this martyrdom, should not pretend to be wiser than God.)

“The aim of all this business, and what God regards as most important, is the preaching of the Faith and the expansion of his Church, not in the desert places and campos of those lands but amongst their inhabitants, converting them and saving their souls. The accessory, the less important thing, is the material benefits and profits that the Spaniards who go there derive, even though the reverend doctor in his writings has often referred to this as the principal goal. Whoever is ignorant of that does not know very much, and whoever denies it is no more a Christian than Mahomet, even if he is Christian nominally. 

He says that the hope of gold and silver mines and having Indian helpers brings people over there. And truly I believe it is so, because they have always shown by their deeds that they are not motivated by the honour of God, or by zeal for the Faith, or by helping their fellow men to salvation, or by service to their king, though always they falsely boast of that. What drives them is only their cupidity and their ambition to tyrannise over the Indians whom they want to have shared out among them, as if they were beasts, by a perpetual repartimiento. And what that will lead to, putting it in plain language, is that the kings of Castle will be stripped of all those territories and expelled from them, and they themselves, usurping and tyrannising, will become sole masters.

And that is what the very reverend doctor Sepúlveda promotes with all his powers, although truly  I do not believe he is aware of the evil he is doing. It is to oppose this blindness and this plague, to prevent these and innumerable other evils, so that the kings of Castile will not lose the Indies, so that the total loss of so many people, the depopulation of such extensive territories, which is looming now, will not happen, and so that God will not visit his cruellest scourges upon all of Spain for this, and because I have fifty years’ experience: that is why I have been so diligent at this court for the past thirty five years. That has been the aim in all my works; not, as the doctor alleges, to close the doors of justification or undo the titles which the kings of Castile have, and that supreme royal primacy of theirs. I close the doors to false titles which are based on nothing and vain, and I open the doors to those which are juridical, solid, powerful, true, Catholic, and worthy of true Christians. And to seek them, establish them, corroborate and proclaim them, I believe I have worked somewhat more and for rather a longer time than the doctor.”   

That was the end of the controversy proper, though Las Casas afterwards wrote more elaborate versions of the book that he read to the junta, and he also developed particular ideas at greater length.

Aftermath of the Controversy    

Who won?   

Just about every possible answer to this question has been argued. Las Casas (Juan Friede, Miguel Giménez-Fernández); inconclusive, a draw (Lewis Hanke, Angel Losada); Sepúlveda (Edmundo O’Gorman, Jean Dumont). But these writers do not all have the same idea of what winning or losing would mean.   

If we reduce it to the question of who had the greater impact on his hearers and the most influence on the statement subsequently made to the king by the junta, the answer would seem to be: Las Casas. The junta’s statement has not survived, but there is another document which indicates that the junta advised the king to put a stop to all conquests because of their destructiveness.   

“The best proof of Las Casas’ victory over Sepúlveda was the increased favour with which the crown regarded him. He secured cédula after cédula ordering the superiors of all the mendicant orders of Castile to provide him with missionaries for the Indies”, Giménez-Fernández says. (10)   

In the longer term too, there were features of policy that could be seen as in tune with Las Casas’ opinions. Sepúlveda had argued that the king’s American empire was entirely dependent on the private initiative of colonists. Las Casas, rejecting this, staked everything on dividing the colonists from the king. Near the end of his second address he played his strongest card, warning against the danger of independent colonial states breaking away from Spain. It seems that the Spanish state really was aware of this prospect and never forgot it. “A great hereditary feudal aristocracy did not develop in the New World. Its inhabitants were not allowed to develop Cortes or representative institutions which might one day challenge the royal power. Instead, the officials of the Spanish Crown slowly asserted their authority over every aspect of American life.” (11) This is a remarkable development, and Las Casas surely had something to do with giving it momentum.   

Remarkable too is that moratorium on conquests issued in 1550. “Probably never before, or since, has a mighty emperor ordered his conquests to cease until it was decided whether they were just,” Lewis Hanke said. (12) No doubt he is right. However, the order was not obeyed. Pedro de Valdivia went merrily on with the conquest of Chile during the first half of the 1550s. And soon the order itself was lifted, and for a reason that the emperor more or less publicly admitted he had to be ashamed of. In May 1556 permission was given for new conquests. It so happened there were numerous “idle and licentious men” in Peru, and one way to “rid and cleanse” the country of them was to give them leave to go and conquer somewhere else. “Although one cannot justify such permission as well as reason requires, we hope in the end it will be of much service to God.” (13) What Las Casas thought when he read that part of the decree is not difficult to imagine.   

Las Casas continued writing and campaigning for another fifteen years, to his death. However, Juan Friede saw the decree permitting new conquests as the moment of his conclusive defeat. In his last period “he evokes the noble figure of Don Quijote. Refusing to admit that the legislation now in force had irrevocably settled the Indian question, he continued the attack with ever greater virulence, as if his pen could alter the direction of history.” (14)   

Not only did the conquests continue but their scope widened. A year before Las Casas’ death came the first great conquest in Asia, of the Philipines. Spanish social engineering of the Indian communities continued also. Granted, the encomiendas, where Indian forced labour was assigned to colonists on a private basis, more or less disappeared, at least in Mexico and Peru. They were replaced by state-organised systems of Indian labour. While these were less destructive, they involved further large-scale interference with the population. “Between 1565 and 1575 around one million natives were forced to resettle in the so-called ‘reducciones’” in Peru. (15)    

By then some other European powers were getting ready to seek empires. The competitors soon began making opportunist use of Las Casas’ writings. Dutch and French translations of A Short Account of the Destruction of the Indies, his most ferocious attack on Spanish conduct, were published in 1578/9. Some years later an English version appeared, at about the time when the English were committing comparable atrocities in parts of Ireland (but there was never any English Las Casas). King Philip II responded by ordering that Las Casas’ writings be impounded and handed over to the Council of the Indies for safekeeping. (16) Interestingly, the same policy was applied to Sepúlveda’s writings, although some of his counsellors told Philip they would make excellent counter-propaganda and advised publication.   

But to return to the Valladolid controversy: the weight of history, or historical hindsight, hangs heavy upon comments made by the Mexican Edmundo O’Gorman in 1971.

“The debate between Las Casas and Sepúlveda reveals the shock between what was already the impossible realisation of the ideal of Christian universalism which sought to overcome the differences of races and individualised groups, and what was then the modern nationalist tendency which sought to justify, in the name of the superior interests of civilisation, the right of dominion over peoples regarded as barbarous, and at the extreme, over all the nations of the earth. Independently of the sympathy which the first of these stances has inspired and inspires today above all, it is undeniable that its spokesmen made themselves advocates of an ideal without an immediate historical future. And since it was Father Las Casas who took up this defence in the given instance, I considered myself justified in qualifying his stance as “archaic”, not to denigrate him but to justify that stance and to explain, without recourse to mysterious essences of absolute good and evil, the paradoxical contrast between the theoretical triumphs of Father Las Casas and the historical ruin of his most cherished aspirations.” (17)

These ideas must no doubt be given their due. It is not surprising that someone should see Sepúlveda, in contrast to Las Casas, as more modern. Sepúlveda had something of the cold, supercilious realism of the English culture of empire. (J. H. Parry, writing in the English Historical Review in 1952, commended him on his “sane and prudent imperialism”. (18)) By contrast, Las Casas kept calling the Spanish state to a huge adventure in Christian idealism, a contact of dramatically differing civilisations where there would be a large measure of mutual respect.    

But there’s something in Las Casas’ thinking which keeps it young and might make him seem less archaic than, say, Edmundo O’Gorman. In doggedly pursuing his vision (quixotically, as Friede says) he explored the possibility of a single standard of thinking which does not do injury to the weaker side: a problem, to the best of my knowledge, not yet solved. The results are astonishing in works like the Apologetic History, where he compares a vast mass of information taken from the history of the then known world with what he can discover about the Indies. For the New World he uses all available sources, including his own experience and that of the many other missionaries he had met, and available published books, such as that by Alvar Nuňez Cabeza de Vaca.   

Daniel Castro, Associate Professor of History at Southwestern University in the United States of America, delivers this grandly-phrased judgment on Las Casas:

“More than missionary, he was a theoretician and a tactician of a benevolent ecclesiastical imperialism, insofar as one of his overriding preoccupations was the conversion of American infidels to Christianity even at a distance. Nowhere is this more apparent than in his unwillingness to learn native languages in order to more fully understand the natives’ individual and collective problems, aspirations and expectations.” (19)  

Nowhere in his own book, unless I’ve unaccountably missed it, does Professor Castro mention Cabeza de Vaca. That is to say, he shows no sign of having heard of a man who learned at least six native languages and gained considerable insight into the natives’ problems, aspirations and expectations – not because he wanted to improve their lives, but because he got lost and spent eight years wandering in the vast expanses of the present-day southern United States. One may conclude that Castro doesn’t have much intellectual curiosity. But what he doesn’t have, Las Casas did have. In the Apologetic History (Castro shows signs of having heard of it, but no real signs of having read it) one of the sources that he avidly draws upon is Cabeza de Vaca’s account, which appeared in print in Spain in 1542.

NOTES

The source for what was said at Valladolid is a pamphlet published by Bartolomé de Las Casas in 1552, with title beginning: Aqui se contiene una disputa, o controversia… The text can be found online e.g. at http://digicoll.library.wisc.edu/cgi-bin/IbrAmerTxt/IbrAmerTxt-idx?id=Spa0035  There is a French translation by Nestor Capdevila in Bartolomé de Las Casas: La controverse entre Las Casas et Sepúlveda (Paris 2007). A good deal of information about the dispute and its context is given in Jean Dumont, El amanecer de los derechos del hombre: La controversia de Valladolid (Madrid 2009).
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